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l. INTRODUCTION

This U.S. Office of Special Counsel (OSC) report stems from a case referral from the
Equal Employment Opportunity Commission (EEOC).! EEOC found that the
, U.S. Department of Justice (DOJ),
retaliated against l for participating in and filing
complaints under Equal Employment Opportunity (EEO) procedures. EEOC asked OSC to
determine whether disciplinary action is warranted against DOJ employees. After reviewing
EEOC’s evidentiary record, OSC requests that DOJ take disciplinary action against
official mManager 1 for violating 5 U.S.C. 8§ 2302(b)(9), which prohibits retaliation for
engaging In protected activities. OSC also requests thath management officials receive
OSC-provided training on prohibited personnel practices and merit system principles.

Employee A

1. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

On [ =~ filed a formal complaint alleging discrimination on the bases of
sex, age, and retaliation (2010 EEO Complaint). DOJ’s Complaint Adjudication Office issued a
Final Agency Decision regarding this complaint on (DOJ-FAD 1). DOJ-FAD
1 found that DOJ retaliated against #===+ when management referred. twice to DOJ’s

Office of Professional Responsibility (OPR) and subjected ] to multiple actions that
constituted a hostile work environment.?

On December 9, 2011 employeea | filed a second formal complaint alleging discrimination on
the bases of age and retaliation (2011 EEO Complaint). This complaint stemmed from, among
other things, a lengthy critical performance memorandum attached to 2010 appraisal.
On November 10, 2015, EEOC issued a decision finding that the performance memorandum was
“an act of retaliatory harassment ... for [ «were» [] EEO activity” and was “another incident of
harassment in the hostile work environment starting in April 2009. It involves the same
perpetrators, the same type of harassment — harsh criticism of ] performance, integrity
and candor, and is close in time to previous incidents [of harassment] ....”

After finding retaliation related to =wes ]| 2011 EEO Complaint, EEOC in its order
stated that DOJ “shall consider disciplining those responsible for the discrimination ... in this
case.” On ||l D03 provided EEOC with a letter indicating that it was declining to
impose discipline against manager1 because. had “already been returned to a non-supervisory
line i position” and “undertook the actions at issue only after close consultation with ...
General Counsel’s Office [OGC].” Thereafter, EEOC referred the matter to OSC to determine
whether any [JJij officials should be disciplined.®

L EEOC made the referral to OSC pursuant to OSC’s authority in 5 U.S.C. 8§ 1214(a), 1215, and 1216(a)(5), (c).
OSC and EEOC also have a memorandum of understanding about case referrals.
2 DOJ-FAD 1 did not find discrimination on the bases of sex or age.

3 EEOC ultimately awarded emees [JJj in compensatory damages and in attorney’s fees for [JJf] 2010
EEO Complaint. For. 2011 EEO Complaint, emwoveea received an award of in compensatory damages,

in medical expenses, restored annual and sick leave, as well as the expungement of all copies of the
critical performance memorandum.
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I1l.  STATEMENT OF EEO FACTS AND FINDINGS*

Employee & began. employment with DOJ in the early 1980s. In 1990, transferred to
and was assigned to the
where Jill worked on major drug enforcement and organized crime cases. also served as
deputy criminal chief from 1997 to 2000 and as senior litigation counsel from 2002 to 2003.
From 2008 to 2011, manager 1 Was the criminal chief and first line supervisor. During the
relevant time, served in a number of roles, including first assistant U.S. attorney
and acting U.S. attorney; served as deputy criminal chief, as well as chief of the

appellate division; and served as U.S. attorney during some of the relevant time.

From 2004 to 2007,| emioveea | parformance appraisals contained praise for il work,
including. high productivity. These appraisals did not criticize “any aspect” Of | empioyeea | WOrK.

on . Vareser: along with == ] previous supervisor. conducted e
mid-year performance review. During this review, ewevs testified that manager1 and
previous supervisor told . that everything was fine, but il should spend more time on
prosecution memoranda. In April 2009, emieer received 2008 performance appraisal.
Manager 1 and manager 2 the reviewing official, gave eseeea an overall rating of “Successful,” and
rated both. handling of cases and productivity as “Outstanding.” The performance appraisal
remarked that = needed to adequately prepare before indictment and improve

rosecution memoranda. Additionally, submitted one of [ mweess | cases as “an important
h case from the ”

A. | Employee A | 2010 EEO Complaint

1. Employee A assists. colleague with challenging his failing performance
appraisal and pursuing his EEO complaints.

In April 2009, colleague, [Empiovee B, received a failing performance appraisal
from manager 1 that required him to be placed on a performance improvement plan (PIP). ,
in a run-up to a grievance action, asked [Jfff management to reconsider the appraisal. ‘orees
represented femplovee 8 in this process, which included negotiations with management. After
management declined to revise appraisal, he filed a grievance and an EEO complaint.
empoyees DA alSO earlier assisted empioyee 8] With an EEO matter in 2008 when . answered
questionnaires from an EEO investigator.

Manager 1| knew about appraisal dispute and EEQ activities and | e |
assistance. manager 1 admitted [Jfj knew that e represented Ensees] when he challenged his
appraisal, ana stated that Jll did not discourage the representation. DOJ-FAD 1 found it
“significant” that challenge to his appraisal and EEO complaint appear to have been
directed at| Manager 1 Thus, although manager1 stated that [Jfwas not aware of Engeiceel] EEO
activity against Jjjj and 2corroborated. claim, DOJ-FAD 1 determined that:

Manager

4 The findings referenced here include testimony from the agency EEO cases, DOJ-FAD 1, and EEOC’s decision.
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it is unlikely that manager1 would have been entirely unaware of
complainant [sic], particularly as the evidence indicated that an EEO investigator
was gathering statements from witnesses no later than March 2008. It is
implausible to believe that an EEO investigator never questioned Manager1 as to
-pactions toward Empiovees], and equally implausible to believe that no one told
manager1 that an EEO investigator was asking about an incident or incidents
involving . These facts tend to support the claim that manager1 had a basis for
seeking reprisal against | emiorea | as was helping in his action against

Manager 1|.

In additionManager testified that [Jfj managers discuss “every type of grievance or
EEOC claim that is in the office” during management meetings every Monday. manager arecalled
that manager 1 ANUManager2 iINfOormed him * e had represented in some fashion or been involved

with the [Exzevee S case.” and that he had become aware of wmeees | allegations of retaliation

during one of the management meetings. manager2 also acknowledged he “may have” told manager 1
that had filed a suit againsti.

Further, DOJ-FAD 1 cited| = | testimony, as well as the testimony of Ezzioweesl and a
former employee, JMEmployee C management began to treat emeerea With
hostility shortly after emmoeea began to represent [employee 8l  emoioreen  alSO NAMeEd manager 1 aNM Manager 2
as being responsible for the discrimination, and manager afor failing to take corrective measures,
when filed the 2010 EEO Complaint.

2. Manager1| and management take actions against_=wers after [JJij
assists jill colleague with challenging his failing performance appraisal
and pursuing his EEO complaints.

a. Manager 1\ accuses emioreea Of questionable actions and then restricts
- - - |
- own communications With  mpieyeea

eoomen stated that shortly after [ represented Enpiovees), Manager 1 falsely accused [ of
soliciting testimony from a sheriff’s deputy with a questionable background, and of authorizing
the Federal Bureau of Investigation to use a prison inmate as a cooperating witness without
supervisory approval. manager1 confirmed in. testimony. belief that emeworees used a sheriff’s
deputy who “had a long history of questionable behavior.” And. indicated that while emsioreea
was productive, . techniques were suspect.

Manager 1 also began communicating with emseres via *“sticky notes” and email, or in

person only if a witness was present. manager1 Stated that. communicated this way with
empiojees  DECAUSE moveea  JaVE M “an uncomtortable feeling.” Manager1 characterized as

being “like a porcupine and nervous and on high alert” in all interactions with emuees because
[l believed oo always had an ulterior motive for ] conversations.
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emoioyees  testified that on September 1, 2009, -filed a grievance With“"c"“_aﬁf-".2 asserting
that. was suffering from a hostile work environment and discrimination. ==* stated that
[l attempted to speak withwansger> about manager1 after filing [ arievance, but hie was unwilling
because he was not comfortable discussing| manager 1 With [

b. At| manager 1] request, JJf management removes “ewoess from [}
position and gives. significantly less prestigious work
and duties.®

On September 8, 2009, ==+ met with ST and e ® | e+ stated that during
the meeting, Manager 1 anCmanager 3 toldl M they were aware had complained tomanager 2 about
Manage-1|. They informed v that il would no longer have duties related to
According to empioyeea . new caseload consisted of “low-level cases that. had no experience
prosecuting” and required significantly less responsibility and skill than the cases. had
previously prosecuted. . new cases included immigration cases, misdemeanor cases, cases
that were approaching the statute of limitations, and “cases that had been ignored for over two
years.” emioreer  S3jd told manager 1 that. was unprepared to prosecute such cases, but
manager 1 declared the decision was final.

Manager 1 andmanager stestified that they transferred =#o=* pecause| eweoveea had mentioned
. might like a transfer to the Civil Division. manager1 alSo Stated that part of il purpose in
removing meeces from [ caseload was that. wanted to get a fresh perspective in
, and because wever B statistics had “declined” and were “substantially less” than the
two other attorneys at . Additionally, managers mentioned concerns with
ethics and professionalism, and that mwerees tried to avoid supervision.

manager 3 Fecalled that issues related to| empoveea | productivity were part of the motivation for
removing JJJf from manager 3stated that he was unaware of documented history
of high productivity, and could not identify when productivity began to wane.

According to manager 3 he was the one who suggested that Manager1 remoye emsiovesa from .
role with . Manager 35aid emoveea  had many problems m. cases and required too much
supervision. manager 2 testified that, as acting U.S. attorney, he removed =2 from
after manager1 “asked for permission to transfer | emsorea  from to

Once Manager1l gave emoeea the Nnew assignment, eworeen requested a month to put. files
in order. manager1 denied this request because |l was concerned that ewersa would tamper with
the files. | manager 1 attributed this fear to. “inherent mistrust of” empioyee _| Manager 1 INStructed
emsloveea 0 Transter files immediately. manager1 also later became concerned that
e Was shredding case documents, SO manager 1 S€arched through the shred box and took

5 Because ==+ did not reEort. removal from. position and assignment to inferior duties within the
required EEO timeframes, ew...» Was not entitled to relief on this claim in the EEO proceedings. DOJ-FAD 1,
nonetheless, considered this claim as background evidence to support other EEQO claims, including.
assertions of a hostile work environment.
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items out—a step | had never taken with any other employee. [Manager1then emailed ||}
about the documents, but learned they were duplicates.

DOJ-FAD 1 found that DOJ transferred emieea  t0 a “less desirable position,” that emekevees
received different assignments of reduced responsibility in theﬁ, and that Iittle
evidence supported manager1 and claims that they had transferred emees because | had
expressed interest in Ieaving. position. DOJ-FAD 1 also stated that even if| emsioreea
“had explored the possibility of a transfer to the of i, as some managers
indicated, such an exploration was not proof that [ emsoeea  Would welcome a removal from .

position and a transfer to a less prestigious and responsible position.” Instead, “the
evidence indicated that || molovees | transfer was involuntary, and | ewoeea  did not want to lose the
position. had held for over twenty years.” Further, as DOJ-FAD 1 concluded, “[n]o evidence
indicated that- managers transferred other attorneys in the manner that | cwpoyees | Was
transferred.”

DOJ-FAD 1 dismissed the contention that Il transferred wworer because of
inadequate productivity: ‘§manager1 claim that | eer=2 was unproductive as an
attorney was inconsistent with | manager1_Characterization of emweves | as a productive worker.”
Additionally, DOJ-FAD 1 noted that s ]| performance appraisal from “2004-2008 contained
only praise for |.] productivity,” that =eees had “a good reputation for achievement at

,” and that “no evidence indicated that [ eweea indicted fewer cases or tried fewer cases
in 2008 than at any previous time.” DOJ-FAD 1 asserted that it was “significant that | empioyeea
received a generally favorable review from manager1 in 2008, but an unfavorable review for
2009,” and that the sequence of events “supported [ emeiovees |] claim that managers
discriminated against il because of. connection to and representation of in his EEO
case.”

Moreover, DOJ-FAD 1 found evidence supporting the claim that [ s | work
deteriorated in 2009 to be lacking. To illustrate, DOJ-FAD 1 determined that the evidence did
NOt SUPPOIt [Wanager2| assertion that eweres | mid-year review and final review for 2009 were
markedly different because management had learned additional facts about | emwioveea
integrity and competence in between the two reviews. Further, DOJ-FAD 1 stated: *
manager provided any credible explanation for why the work practices that earned
awards and ratings of “Outstanding” in 2004-2007 had fallen to the level of being unacceptable
and unethical as of 2009. No manager provided any specific example to illustrate how
[[ e ]] work deteriorated so much in 2009.”

Employee A

to document promptly [ =2 F] allegedly unethical acts, management created
significant doubt as to any claim that“] had engaged in acts of questionable integrity prior
tog. transfer in 2009.”

As to concerns about| === | ethics, DOJ-FAD 1 re'lected these accusations. “By failing

In sum, DOJ-FAD 1 stated that] ** transfer from . role with was “not

related to any recent shortcoming on [ ewieea ] part,” that the record “failed to sh

ow that
managers had a good-faith basis for finding that [ s ]] integrity or work as an ;
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attorney deteriorated in 2008 or 2009,” and that- management “acted out of retaliatory
intent” when they transferred eeevees . DOJ-FAD 1 also found it “troubling that [ "
transfer from position was consistent with the claims of, and
Il Employee D that management had established a pattern for retaliating against
employees who had assisted empioyee ] With his claim.” Specifically, emioyeea I colleagues stated
that management had routinely retaliated against employees who assisted Employee 8] With
his EEO case by, for example, giving the employees mediocre or poor performance ratings,
assigning them to positions of reduced significance for which they were poorly trained, filing
OPR complaints, scrutinizing their work, and cutting off ordinary communication. And “[n]o

evidence indicated that had engaged in a similar pattern of ostracization toward other
employees who had not participated in an employment discrimination claim against 7

C. Manager 1 refers emoyeea twice to OPR.

According toManaser2. OPR referrals are onerous for the referred attorney, and these
referrals can have adverse effects on an attorney’s career. On ||l wenseer 1 referred
mporees | {0 OPR for a 2008 incident where manager1 accused emweeea Of dropping a gun
enhancement charge from an indictment without supervisory permission. emorea stated that
manager 1 had threatened to report. to OPR for this incident in September 2009, when manager 1
told _emeees that ffwould no longer be working on [l cases.® | anager 1| referral
occurred eight days after =evees had engaged in an unsuccessful negotiation with
management to resolve. EEO issues. Notably, this was the first time DOJ had ever referred
emiovees | t0 OPR for alleged infractions.

The gun enhancement charge incident, in the absence of dispositive evidence, devolved
intoa“ ” situation. ewevea  claimed that. had received authorization by email
in 2008 to dismiss the count, and manager 1 Delieved that eweres had not. In. OPR referral,
Manager 1\ stated that. had “learned from IT that a systems update would have deleted any 2008
emails that had not been specifically saved” and “due to the IT update, | could not prove that no
such email ever existed.” Even though|manager 1 could not disprove | mweres ] explanation,
manager 1 referred this matter to OPR. manager1 also appended to. OPR referral a matter that
originated in 2005 involving a signed proffer letter.” emwires stated that manager 1 aNd Manager 31ad
discussed this case with [ in “

A month after il OPR referral, on , Manager1 referred emworeea to OPR for
another incident, which was three years old. In 2007, e allegedly failed to indict a
defendant on gun and drug charges that were appropriate tor the indictment.

Although manager 1 was the person listed as making the referrals to OPR, . consulted
with otherﬂ management officials, such as managersand %‘! Ultimately, OPR notified

6 empoveea also indicated that Manager 1 first accused. of dropping the gun enhancement charge without.
permission in August 2009.

" The defendant in the 2005 case filed a motion about the proffer letter in 2008 and proceedings related to this
motion commenced.
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mievees | i) NOvember 2010 that the allegations against. did not warrant investigation, and OPR
closed both matters.

DOJ-FAD 1 concluded that “the factual bases for the OPR referrals were dubious,” the
timing “highly questionable,” and the proffered explanations “were less than credible.” With
respect t0 manager 1 aNdmanager3°s statements that they objected t0| emioyeer | MjSrepresentations
about the incidents in question,” DOJ-FAD 1 determined that “little evidence corroborated the
claim that eweoes | lied about the incidents.” Instead, DOJ-FAD 1 indicated that because most of
the incidents were not raised until years after they occurred, it was plausible that
“recollection of events might be flawed or incomplete,” and that the documentary evidence
showed emiveea “had reasonable explanations for the incidents in question that might have
allayed any good-faith concerns that manager 1 OF managers might have had.”

As to the long delay between when- managers threatened to report =4 to OPR
for the gun enhancement charge incident and when they actually did shortly after emoveea had
attempted to resolve | EEO issues, DOJ-FAD 1 indicated that no [JJj manager provided any
explanation. DOJ-FAD 1 concluded that these “facts tended to support the claim that
managers used the threat of OPR referrals as a means of intimidating | eweves | because of il use
of the EEO system and. participation in protected activities.”

Last, DOJ-FAD 1 considered [maoiee5ff] testimony that, like s [Jj managers

retaliated against him by referring him to OPR to be “significant,” and found it “disturbing” that
between , three of the five referrals [Jff managers made to OPR were
against fempiovee 8 aNd those who supported him. DOJ-FAD 1 also stated that the record provided

“no legitimate explanation” for why | referrals to OPR coincided with the protected
activity of o=+ and the others, and determined that [Jfj managers’ legitimate,
non-discriminatory reasons for referring eweea to OPR twice were “pretexts for acts of
reprisal.”

d. manager 1 and [ management subjected emweres to a hostile
work environment.

starting in || wenseer1 required that =+ submit rosecution
memoranda for review a week earlier than other-. Manager 1 Said took this step because
| Employee A | memoranda needed frequent revision. manager 1 aCKNowledged that even though.
usually met with in person to discuss deficiencies in their memoranda, . did not do so
with emioeen because il did not trust.. Instead, manager1 Stated that. critiquedl Employee A |
memoranda via notes or email, but not personal interaction.

Additionally, in March 2010, empioyeea received. performance appraisal for 2009. A
memorandum from manager1 t0 emereen accompanied the appraisal. The memorandum stated that
although emsieveea  Was rated as “Successful,” had “barely [met] the minimum requirements to

receive successful ratings and [was] at risk of being rated “Unacceptable” in one or more of |.]

performance elements.”
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While DOJ-FAD 1 did not find discrimination related to the requirement that emioyees
submit work earlier than others and the March 2010 criticism, these incidents, as well as a few
others, informed DOJ-FAD 1’s assessment 0f| Employee A | overall claim of a hostile work
environment. In analyzing ewoea S overall work environment, DOJ-FAD 1 stated:

the cumulative evidence indicated that for over two years, and beginning with
[ emwiwen s] representation of Emeerd] in a protected action, i managers
subjected | emoveea | to unusual criticism of work, hostile scrutiny of. work
products, deadlines that no other had to meet, and a near-complete
termination of communication with management. It is understandable that

anyone would find such a work environment to be hostile, and || Employee s |
statement indicated that. did in fact find the work environment to be hostile.

DOJ-FAD 1 also took into account the following:

managers offered marginally legitimate explanations for their actions
regarding =weea ], These reasons were questionable when addressed
specifically, but unconvincing when examined in the aggregate. Any one such
incident might have been excused as poor management rather than discrimination
on the basis of reprisal. But the sheer quantity of poorly-justified negative
personnel actions to which - managers subjected | emwerea  over a period of
two years, before which [ emwoen had not been subjected to such criticism,
significantly undermined any claim that the [Jfj managers acted in good faith
toward | empioyeea |.

DOJ-FAD 1 further elaborated that “all of the incidents ... must be considered in light of
the prohibited discrimination to which [JJj managers subjected | | by transferring
from. position and by filing questionable OPR claims against jl.” The “incidents

must also be considered in Iii ht of their very close proximity to [j emwivea ] INVolvement in

Employee B claim and [| emoreea |] own EEO claim .... That proximity further supports a
managers subjected [ =woeea  to a hostile work environment out of retaliatory

finding that
intent.”

B. Employee A | 2011 EEO Complaint

in | vovzeer 1 was moved out of [l role as criminal chief and returned to [Jjj
previous position as a non-supervisorx-.8 manager 2 teStified that between February and June
2011, Manager1 attempted to put emporeea 0N @ PIP, but OGC was not satisfied with the draft PIPs
manager 1 Produced. Instead, according t0| panager1 OGC advised. to addressl Employee A |
perrormance issues in a memorandum.

Employee A

8 PerIM:anage:lﬂ_ the change in Manager 1 duties was unrelated to any actions. took against _ it occurred
because of a range of issues pertaining to manager 1 failure to follow specific directions from Managerd and to maintain

good relationships with law enforcement partners.
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raisal from

In July 2011, ewiveen received . 2010 performance a New Supervisor,
The appraisal covered work from . Manager 1 Signed
the appraisal as the rating official andmanager 2 Was the reviewing official. =serer received an
overall rating of “Successful” for the period. Manager 1 Manager2 | and fansger5] initialed a performance
memorandum dated , that accompanied| ewoves | 2010 appraisal. This
memorandum severely criticized work performance in 2010 and raised concerns about
. handling of six separate cases.

critical” performance memorandum. Although management maintained that the
memorandum was not intended to be part of “permanent record,” Manager 4noted that a
“good degree of personal animosity and mistrust” had developed between manager1 and empioyeen .
Besides weren N0 other employee that manager1 supervised during the 2010 performance year
received a similar memorandum with his or her appraisal.

EEOC concluded that manager1 was “the i rimary force behind the issuance” of the “highly

While DOJ did not find that the performance memorandum constituted a hostile work
environment, EEOC disagreed. In ruling the memorandum constituted an act of retaliatory
harassment against ewevr  EEOC stated that the memorandum grew out of the earlier PIP drafts
manager 1 WS unsuccessful in getting OGC to approve and, like the previous acts discussed above,
“was caused by a lack of trust” and “coincided with || Employee A |] EEO activity.”

As_meren | new supervisor, [wanseers wrote ] 2011 performance appraisal. [enseers gave
empiovees g Qverall rating of “Outstanding,” and ratings of “Outstanding” in four of the five rated
elements, including case handling, ethics and professionalism, and productivity.

V. LEGAL ANALYSIS

Section 2302(b)(9) of title 5 of the U.S. Code prohibits retaliation against federal
employees for engaging in protected activity, e.g., the exercise of any appeal, complaint, or
grievance right, or testifying for or otherwise lawfully assisting any individual in the exercise of
any appeal, complaint, or grievance right.® To prove a prima facie case of retaliation under
section 2302(b)(9), OSC must show by a preponderance of the evidence that: (1) an employee
engaged in protected activity; (2) the agency took a personnel action against the employee; (3)
the officials taking the personnel action knew of the protected activity; and (4) there is a causal
connection between the protected activity and the personnel action. See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9);
see also Bodinus v. Dep’t of the Treas., 7 M.S.P.R. 536, 540 (1981) (exercising an appeal right or
testifying for or assisting others in the exercise of an appeal right is protected); In the Matter of

9 Specifically, section 2302(b)(9)(A)(i) prohibits retaliation for engaging in protected activity to remedy a violation
of 5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(8). Here, the section 2302(b)(8) violation being remedied is, for example, retaliation for
disclosing a violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of 1964 and an abuse of authority. The facts and general
legal analysis in this report also support a violation of section 2302(b)(9)(A)(ii), which prohibits retaliation for
engaging in protected activity other than to remedy a violation of section 2302(b)(8). Finally, section 2302(b)(9)(B)
prohibits retaliation for testifying for or otherwise lawfully assisting any individual in the exercise of any right in
section 2302(b)(9)(A)(i) or (ii).

10
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Frazier, 1 M.S.P.R. 163, 190-92 (1979) (retaliation against employee who exercises EEO rights
violates section 2302(b)(9)). To establish the causal connection required for disciplinary action,
OSC must demonstrate that the protected activity was a “significant motivating factor,” even if

other factors also motivated the personnel action. 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(3)(B).

If OSC proves that the protected activity was a significant motivating factor in the
personnel action, the burden shifts to the agency to establish by a preponderance of the evidence
that the responsible agency officials would have taken the same personnel action in the absence
of the protected activity. Id.

A. DO violated section 2302(b)(9) when Manaeer1 5 [ management
significantly changed| =wevea | duties, responsibilities, and working conditions
because. engaged in protected activities.

OSC can show a prima facie case of retaliation by Manager 1 and |Jfj management
against =worea  for engaging in activities protected under section 2302(b)(9). OSC can further
demonstrate that fmere» I protected activities were a significant motivating factor in the
retaliatory personnel actions. suffered as a result.

1. mooyeea  €NQAGEd 1IN protected activities.

empioyeer | @gaged in activities protected under section 2302(b)(9) when. (1) provided
information to an EEO investigator in 2008 for [zgaiz=s] EEO complaint; (2) represented
Empioveee] when he challenged his performance rating in 2009, which led toﬁ filing a
grievance and another EEO complaint; (3) filed a grievance in 2009, complaining of a hostile
work environment and discrimination; and (4) filed an EEO complaint in 2010.

2. manager 1 and [Jf management took personnel actions against [ s

management officials took personnel actions against e . Specifically, they
significantl changed. duties, responsibilities, or working conditions by (1) removing.
from i after serving there for close to two decades; and (2) creating a hostile work
environment for. See 5 U.S.C. § 2302(a)(2)(A)(xii) (showing that a significant change in
duties, responsibilities, or working conditions is a personnel action).

As explained above, career before protected activities focused on major drug
enforcement and organized crime cases with . experience and success litigating
these types of cases had resulted in consistently favorable performance appraisals. But on
september 8, 2009, [l management officials removed ewores fromh and assigned
.pto a “less desirable” and less prestigious and responsible position.

management officials also created a hostile work environment. See Savage v.
Dep’t of the Army, 122 M.S.P.R. 612, 627 (2015) (finding that the creation of a hostile work
environment is a personnel action). The incidents that constituted a hostile work environment
include “unusual criticism of || emoiovees ] WOrK, hostile scrutiny of. work products, deadlines

11
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that no other had to meet, and a near complete termination of communication with
management.” officials also repeatedly accused emseres Of professional misconduct,
referring . twice to OPR for years-old incidents. As DOJ-FAD 1 observed, the variety of
negative actions that took against s were “designed to isolate | and “to make |}
vulnerable to additional adverse personnel actions.” Additionally,- issued meevees  the July
2011 performance memorandum that contained derogatory information about emeioreea I work.
EEOC determined that this memorandum was an act of retaliatory harassment.

3. Manager1 and management had knowledge of | mwes | protected
activities and these protected activities were a significant motivating factor

in the personnel actions.

officials, including Manager 1, Seees and Managerd had knowledge of _meieres |
protected activities. eeivea  gssisted empioyeeg] 1N NiS EEO case in 2008 when [, for example,
answered questionnaires from an EEO investigator. emorees alSO represented Empiovee 8 When he
challenged his performance appraisal, and manager 1 acknowledged that [Jfj knew of [ s ]
representation. later filed a grievance and another EEO complaint related to this
appraisal. In addition, mansger4 testified that [JJff managers discuss “every type of grievance or
EEOC claim that is in the office” during management meetings every Monday, and recounted
that Manager 1 andManager2 informed him 1 emoioyees NAA represented in some fashion or been involved
with the [lEmployee B Case” during one of these meetings. And DOJ-FAD 1 found that the
version of events offered by manager 1 and manager 2 that manager 1 Was unaware of Employescf] EEO
complaint to be suspect. Moreover, e filed a grievance about | Manager1 alleged
discriminatory behavior withfaszeer2 and named manager1 and others when filed . 2010
EEO Complaint.

Significant motivating factor causation may be inferred from several different types of
evidence, including (1) retaliatory animus or motivation; (2) the proximity in time between the
protected activity and the personnel action; (3) inconsistent or contradictory reasons offered by
the agency for the personnel action; and (4) examination of similarly situated employees who
engaged in protected activity.X® As discussed below, the totality of the evidence shows that

moioveen | Protected activities were a significant motivating factor in the personnel actions.

a. Manager 1 and management had strong retaliatory animus
against wmeioyeea for protected activities.

manager 1 and other officials in| mwewer | management chain had animus against emereer for
. protected activities. First, emioeea assistec [Eppioyees with challenging his performance
appraisal and pursuing his EEO complaints, which were against\ manager 1 See Russell v. Dep’t of
Justice, 76 M.S.P.R. 317, 326 (1997) (finding strong motive to retaliate where managers were

10 This list of factors is similar to those articulated in case law applying the “significant factor” standard under civil
service laws and the “motivating factor” standard under the Uniformed Services Employment and Reemployment

Rights Act. See, e.g., Mt. Healthy City Sch. Dist. Bd. of Educ. v. Doyle, 429 U.S. 274, 287 (1977); Sheehan v. Dept
of the Navy, 240 F.3d 1009, 1014 (Fed. Cir. 2001); Marshall v. Dep't of Veterans Affairs, 111 M.S.P.R. 5, 13 (2008).
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subjects of employee’s protected disclosures). =eres later filed both a grievance and an EEO
complaint against manager 1 alleging a hostile work environment and discrimination.

Further, Managerll animus is demonstrated by how. treated cmoioreen  after| emoloyeea
engaged in protected activities. To illustrate, manager 1 and others curtailed communications with
coweesremoved e from [ duties, referred ==+ to OPR for years-old incidents,
tried unsuccessfully to place =.eea on a PIP, and attached a derogatory performance
memorandum 2010 appraisal. [ manager1 refusal to give ewevea time to put. files
in order after emioreea Was removed from position appears to be not only retaliatory,
but also contrary to normal professional practice. Given that ewerer had served with
for almost two decades, . request for time to put. files together seems reasonable. The basis
for | mansger 1| denial was rooted in ] “inherent mistrust” of [ mwerer so [ feared that notes
from the case files would disappear. And, consistent with DOJ-FAD 1’s findings, any assertions
that manager1 and other [fJ management had concerns about _mwer=s ] ethics and
professionalism are questionable.

In short, as DOJ-FAD 1 concluded, | manager 1 “had a basis for seeking reprisal against
| emoren ” and manager1 and || management “acted out of retaliatory intent.”

b. There was close timing between protected activities and
the personnel actions.

As stated above, shortly after eweres assisted with his protected activities,
manager 1 D€gan to accuse s OF taking actions without supervisory approval and soliciting
testimony from a questionable witness. manager 1 further took the extraordinary step to restrict
how. communicated with emweeea By September 1, 2009, | emiveea felt compelled to file a
grievance about | manager 1] actions. Within a week of that grievance, and only a few months after
assisting [empioyee B, | Manager 1 removed Fwirer from role with and threatened to refer
employees 10 OPR. | Manager 1| threat was not idle; later referred empoveea t0 OPR. As DOJ-FAD 1
succinctly stated when discussing =wer<» § hostile work environment claims, the incidents’
“proximity to || empoveea | iNVOlvement in EEO claim and [[ eieree |] own EEO claim”
further “supports a finding that managers subjected | emiren | to a hostile work
environment out of retaliatory intent.” EEOC stated the same about the critical performance
memorandum attached to 2010 appraisal: it was “another incident of harassment in the
hostile work environment starting in 2009.”

C. Manager 1 and- management provided inconsistent and
illogical reasons for the personnel actions against cmpyeen

Manager 1 and other- management officials provided weak or inconsistent reasons
for their actions. To illustrate, according tO manager 1, Part of the reason - no longer had
duties was because of | =rerea I declining productivity. This reasoning is inconsistent
not only with | Manager 1| and [manager 2 | rating of | =wevees | productivity and case handling as
“Qutstanding” on Ml 2008 appraisal, but also with| emeres | appraisals from 2004 to 2007. DOJ-
FAD 1 also found thatl Manager 1| claim that| =2 was “unproductive as an
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was inconsistent Withl Manager 1| characterization of eweees | as a productive worker,” and the
“evidence did not support the claim that || Employee A |] work deteriorated in 2009.”

manager 3 @ISO could not reconcile assertions about Erelorees | lower productivity with the
high productivity ratings found in. previous appraisals. Indeed, as DOJ-FAD 1 stated:

[njo [l manager_provided any credible explanation for why the work
practices that earned ewewea ] awards and ratings of “Outstanding” in 2004-2007
had fallen to the level of being unacceptable and unethical as of 2009. No

manager provided any specific example to illustrate how [[emerer || work
deteriorated so much in 2009.

Another example of [ management officials proffering inconsistent reasons for the
actions taken against emwvea pertain to their referral of ewives to OPR in 2010 for issues dating
back years ago. Given that these referrals are serious matters with potentially career-ending
consequences, it is noteworthy that DOJ-FAD 1 found the bases for the referrals, and
management’s subsequent explanations for them, dubious and not credible. One of the referrals
was essentially a dispute over whether ™" had received approval to dismiss a charge in a
case, and any emails that would have provenl employee s | ASSEILION that. had received such
approval via email were wiped out by an IT update. While manager1 acknowledged that. could
not disprove explanation because of the lost emails, . still referred this matter to
OPR. This thin basis for referral shows that the reasons for referring s to OPR were, as
DOJ-FAD 1 stated, “pretexts for acts of reprisal.”

Manager 1 and - management did not have logical or consistent bases for the
personnel actions taken against &2 In fact, “the sheer guantity of poorly-justified negative
personnel actions to which managers subjected | ewevea  Over a period of two years,
before which | == | had not been subjected to such criticism, significantly undermined any
claim that the_ managers acted in good faith toward emsoreea |.”

d. Similarly situated employees who did not engage in protected
activities were treated better than emelorees

Manager 1 consistently treated ewerer differently than employees who did not engage in
protected activities. For instance, Manager1'did not communicate with emeores in the same way
communicated with other employees. . communicated With eweveea 0Only In writing and, if in
person, with a witness present. As DOJ-FAD 1 stated, there was “unusual criticism of || Employee A |]
work, hostile scrutiny of [ work products, deadlines that no other JJJlllj had to meet, and a
near-complete termination of communication with management.” emweeea Was also the only one
of| Manager 1| subordinates whom, despite a rating indicating that. was successful, received a
critical performance memorandum With. 2010 appraisal.

It is striking that [Jf§ management treated eaveeen” in a manner similar to other
employees who had engaged in or assisted others with EEO activities. DOJ-FAD 1 found it
“troubling that [ mweees |] transfer from |} position was consistent with the claims of
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that management had established a pattern for retaliating
against employees who had assisted with his claim.” Additionally, DOJ-FAD 1 noted

that sl testimony that management retaliated against him by referring him to OPR
was “significant,” and considered that between 2008 and February 2012, three of the five OPR
referrals made by managers were against fzeiiees] and those who supported him.

B. DOJ cannot show by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have taken the
same personnel actions against ewoveea in the absence of. protected activities.

Because the evidence described above demonstrates that| *™** s protected activities
were a significant motivating factor in the personnel actions against . the burden shifts to DOJ
to show by a preponderance of the evidence that it would have taken the same personnel actions
against =i in the absence of. protected activities. See 5 U.S.C. § 1215(a)(3)(B). DOJ
cannot meet this burden. DOJ—in DOJ-FAD 1—determined that management twice-
referred ™"* to OPR and created a hostile work environment for in retaliation for| Fetoyeer |
protected activities. EEOC similarly ruled that the critical performance memorandum attached
tQ Employeea | 2010 appraisal was retaliatory harassment for| ewerea | protected EEO activities. In
so doing, both rejected DOJ’s proffered justifications for its actions. And, as explained above,
the arguments DOJ offered in defense of the personnel actions are dubious at best, and
implausible or contradicted by the facts at worst.

V. CULPABILITY OF RESPONSIBLE DOJ OFFICIALS

A I Manager 1 -

Manager 1 \vas the primary force behind most or all of the retaliatory personnel actions
against =weees  Eyven though other management officials were involved in the personnel
actions, these officials relied heavily on} manager 1| account of alleged problems with eerer — As
demonstrated above, manager 1 t0OK multiple actions against meir=a such as:

restricted communication with emeieyees -

set deadlines that only emes had to meet;

subjected  employees I work product to unusual criticism and hostile scrutiny;

requested that ewees be removed from [ ij and assigned JJ to less prestigious
work;

referred =2 to OPR twice for years-old incidents;

e sought t0 NAVE emorecs placed on a PIP; and

e added a performance memorandum tO| empioyee | 2010 appraisal after. could not
place| empioreea N @ PIP.

| manager 1 | lacking justifications for these actions and [Jff strong animus against twers  combined
with the timing of | eweeea | protected activities, demonstratel Managerll retaliatory purpose.

In recommending discipline for manager1 OSC considered information from DOJ that it
did not discipline manager 1 because. had already been returned to a non-supervisory position,
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and because. had consulted closely with OGC in composing the performance memorandum
that was attached tol meioveea | 20010 appraisal. As to the first proposition, DOJ informed OSC that
returning Manager 1 t0 a non-supervisory position was not discipline for retaliation against rmioyeea
Thus, manager 1 Nas not been held accountable for. actions.

As to the second proposition that|manager 1 consulted with OGC, such consultation should
not insulate manager 1 from appropriate discipline for prohibited personnel practices. Cf. Link v.
Wabash R.R. Co., 370 U.S. 626, 633-34 (1962) (no merit to the contention that dismissal of claim
because of counsel’s unexcused conduct imposes an unjust penalty on the client); Manescalchi v.
U.S. Postal Serv,, 74 M.S.P.R. 479, n.1 (1997) (stating that although the agency followed advice
of an administrative body’s general counsel and another entity, “such advice or opinion in no
way precludes [concluding] that the agency’s actions were in fact improper and the agency relies
on such advice at its own peril”); Jones v. Dep’t of Transp., 16 M.S.P.R. 495, 499 (1983)
(appellants’ reliance on advice of counsel was insufficient to rebut prima facie case that absence
was in furtherance of strike). Furthermore, Manager1 consulted with OGC regarding the critical
performance memorandum, but as discussed, manager1 t00k a long list of other retaliatory actions
against empioyeea

OSC also notes that the incidents at issue occurred years ago. However, it took some
time for the claims to make their way through the EEO process to finality. Additionally, OSC
received the case referral from EEOC in 2016 after DOJ stated that it would not take disciplinary
action against manager1 or other [ management officials. Moreover, although the events are
somewhat dated, the evidentiary record supporting the findings of EEO violations is well-
developed, with testimony from manager 1 and other agency officials and documentary evidence.
Further, despite the passage of time, disciplinary action is necessary because of the seriousness
of the conduct, the lack of individual accountability for the violations, and the public interest
served in holding officials responsible for engaging in prohibited personnel practices.*

B.  Other [Jj Management Officials

OSC did not consider, and renders no opinion, on whether disciplinary action would be
warranted for manager 2 and Manzeer as OSC understands they have both have left federal service.
While OSC focuses on | manager 1] conduct and requests discipline for [Jfj DOJ should also
consider taking disciplinary action as appropriate against other management officials involved in
the personnel actions. One example isgeszger? who, among other things, conferred with and
provided advice t0 manager1 and Met With panager1 and emposeea

VI. CONCLUSION

manager1 and [y management officials retaliated against eers” in violation of
5 U.S.C. § 2302(b)(9). Holding the responsible agency officials accountable for their actions is
necessary to preserve the merit system in federal employment, and to ensure that employees can
engage in protected activities without fear of retaliation. Therefore, OSC requests that DOJ take

11 There is no statute of limitations on disciplinary action for prohibited personnel practices cases.
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appropriate disciplinary action against manager1 as well as other officials responsible for the

retaliation discussed in this report. In addition, OSC requests that [JJff management officials
receive OSC-provided training on prohibited personnel practices and merit system principles.
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